ACE AVIATION

ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

March 9, 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

EXPLANATORY NOTES	1
THE CORPORATION	2
RISK FACTORS	19
MARKET FOR SECURITIES	20
DIVIDEND RECORD	21
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE	21
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS	27
AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE	29
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS	31
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR	31
MATERIAL CONTRACTS	31
EXPERTS	32
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	32
APPENDIX A - CHARTER OF THE AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ACE AVIATION HOLDINGS INC	A-1

EXPLANATORY NOTES

The information in this Annual Information Form is stated as at December 31, 2011, unless otherwise indicated.

ACE and the Corporation — References in this Annual Information Form to "ACE" and references to the "Corporation" include references, as the context may require, to ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries collectively, ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. and one or more of its subsidiaries, one or more of ACE Aviation Holdings Inc.'s subsidiaries, or ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. itself.

Subsidiaries — References herein to the term "subsidiary" or "subsidiaries" refer, in relation to any entity, to any other entity, including a corporation or a limited partnership, which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by that entity.

Currency — All currency amounts used in this document are stated in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Forward-looking statements — ACE's public communications may include written or oral forwardlooking statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Such statements are included in this Annual Information Form and may be included in other filings with regulatory authorities and securities regulators. Forward-looking statements may relate to analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements may involve, but are not limited to, comments relating to strategies, expectations, planned operations, future actions, the expected timing of the distributions to shareholders and other steps under the liquidation process and other statements relating to the liquidation process and the exercise by the board of directors, or a liquidator appointed by the board of directors, of its discretion under the liquidation process, the listing of the Common Shares on any stock exchange, the status of the Corporation as a reporting issuer, the timing of the delisting of the Common Shares, the period required to implement the liquidation and the timing of the dissolution of ACE. There can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which these forward looking statements are based will occur. These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of terms and phrases such as "anticipate", "believe", "could", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "may", "plan", "predict", "project", "will", "would", and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions.

Forward-looking statements, by their nature, are based on assumptions and are subject to important risks and uncertainties. Any forecasts or forward-looking predictions or statements cannot be relied upon due to, amongst other things, changing external events and general uncertainties of the business. Actual results may differ materially from results indicated in forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including without limitation, market, regulatory developments or proceedings, and actions by third parties as well as the factors identified in this Annual Information Form and, in particular, those identified in this Annual Information Form. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Information Form. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Information Form, as of the date of this Annual Information Form, and are subject to change after such date. However, ACE disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required under applicable securities regulations.

Throughout this Annual Information Form, references to and descriptions of the distributions to shareholders pursuant to the liquidation are made on a prospective basis assuming the distributions will be completed. The completion of the distributions may be subject to satisfaction of the liabilities and contingencies of ACE, the discretion of the board of directors, or if a liquidator has then been appointed, the discretion of the liquidator and a number of factors and conditions which are described in this Annual Information Form and in the Management Proxy Circular dated March 9, 2012 and there can be no assurances as to the amounts and timeline of distributions.

THE CORPORATION

Nature of Business

ACE is a holding company. ACE's Class A variable voting shares (the "Variable Voting Shares") and Class B voting shares (the "Voting Shares") are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") under the symbols "ACE.A" and "ACE.B", respectively.

ACE was incorporated on June 29, 2004 under the Canada Business Corporations Act ("CBCA") and became the parent holding company of the reorganized Air Canada and its subsidiaries upon the implementation of the consolidated plan of reorganization, compromise and arrangement of Air Canada and certain of its subsidiaries under the CBCA, the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act ("CCAA") and the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) which was implemented on September 30, 2004 (referred to herein as the "Plan").

ACE's corporate structure was designed to: (i) put in place separate management and business plans for each business to better focus their strategic direction and profit making efforts; (ii) align management, capital and human resource needs within each individual business; (iii) facilitate the development of each business to its fullest individual potential including, where appropriate, through the pursuit of third party business; and (iv) maximize the value of investments that had not been fully recognized.

ACE's value enhancement strategy for its stand-alone entities included considering stand-alone financings, sales and distributions of equity interests and involved outside investors for these and other purposes. Implementation of this strategy has notably involved the initial public offerings of Aeroplan Income Fund (a predecessor of Groupe Aeroplan Inc. doing business as Aimia), Jazz Air Income Fund (a predecessor of Chorus Aviation Inc.) and Air Canada and subsequent distributions or dispositions of ACE's interests in such entities, together with the monetization of ACTS LP and the other transactions outlined below in the section "Evolution of Business".

As at March 9, 2012, ACE's principal interests are cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$351 million, an 11.11% equity interest in Air Canada (31 million Class B voting shares of Air Canada) and 2.5 million Air Canada warrants for the purchase of Air Canada Class B voting shares at exercise prices of \$1.44 (1.25 million warrants) and \$1.51 (1.25 million warrants) per share.

ACE's 11.11% interest in Air Canada had a value of approximately \$29 million on March 9, 2012 based on the average of the closing prices on the TSX of Air Canada's Class A variable voting shares and Class B voting shares on such date. ACE's warrants to purchase Air Canada shares have a nominal value.

As at March 9, 2012, ACE had one full-time employee and four part-time consultants.

The head office of ACE is located at 5100 de Maisonneuve Boulevard West, Montreal, Québec, H4A 3T2. The telephone number of the Corporate Secretary's office of ACE is (514) 205-7855 and the facsimile number is (514) 205-7859. ACE's website address is www.aceaviation.com (for greater certainty, this website is not in any way incorporated by reference herein).

Proposed Share Conversion

At the annual and special shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012, shareholders of ACE will also be asked to consider a resolution approving an amendment to the articles of ACE pursuant to which (A) a new class of common shares (the "Common Shares"), each entitled to one vote per share, will be created, and (B) each outstanding Variable Voting Share and Voting Share of ACE will be converted into one Common Share (collectively, the "Share Conversion").

The Share Conversion forms part of the steps being implemented by ACE in order to complete its liquidation described below in a tax-efficient manner for ACE and its shareholders. At the time of incorporation of ACE in 2004, when ACE controlled Air Canada, the articles of ACE provided for ownership restrictions through a dual-class share structure to ensure that ACE, as the controlling shareholder of Air Canada, remained Canadian under the Canada Transportation Act ("CTA"). ACE no longer holds a significant interest in any holder of a license under the CTA and accordingly, ACE's dual class structure is no longer necessary.

In the event that the Share Conversion is not approved by the shareholders, the resolution relating to the liquidation and dissolution of ACE will not be submitted to the shareholders for approval at the annual and special shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012.

The terms of the Common Shares pertaining to dividend entitlements, right to vote and entitlement upon liquidation or dissolution will be the same as the rights currently attaching to Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares of ACE. The Common Shares will not be subject to any ownership restriction. For additional information relating to the terms of the Common Shares, see "Description of Capital Structure – Share Conversion and New Common Shares" below.

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares issuable upon completion of the Share Conversion, subject to satisfaction of the customary listing conditions of the TSX.

Proposed Liquidation

Overview

On February 10, 2012, ACE announced that it would seek shareholder approval for (A) the voluntary liquidation of ACE pursuant to section 211 of the CBCA, through distributions of its remaining assets to its shareholders after providing for outstanding liabilities, contingencies and costs of the liquidation, (B) the appointment of a liquidator at the time determined by the board of directors of ACE, and (C) the ultimate dissolution of ACE in the future once all of the liquidation steps have been completed.

In March 2010, ACE applied for certificates of discharge from the Canada Revenue Agency (the "CRA") and the Ministère du Revenu du Québec ("Revenu Québec") in order to address any outstanding tax liabilities. ACE actively assisted the CRA and Revenu Québec with their audits of ACE's income tax returns for the years 2005 to 2010. In addition to the audits of income tax returns, ACE assisted with audits in respect of other taxes. The audits of income tax returns required a detailed review of all of the significant corporate transactions undertaken by ACE since its incorporation in 2004, together with a detailed review of all of its returns. The audits of income tax returns and of all other taxes are now complete and a certificate of discharge was issued by the CRA on March 7, 2012 in connection with all taxation years ended on or prior to December 31, 2010. A similar certificate is expected to be issued by Revenu Quebec shortly. ACE does not expect to incur any income tax liabilities for the taxation years ended December 31, 2011 and beyond, or to incur liabilities for other taxes over and above the amounts incurred in the ordinary course of business. Liabilities for all taxes up to March 9, 2012 have been paid or provided for.

ACE has also obtained an advance tax ruling from the CRA in order to confirm that neither the Share Conversion nor the liquidation steps described below will result in the Common Shares being considered short-term preferred shares or taxable preferred shares for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the "Tax Act") and the regulations thereunder, such that no tax under Part VI.1 of the Tax Act will be payable by ACE in connection with the liquidation steps.

In connection with the liquidation of ACE, subject to shareholder approval, the following events will occur at the time determined by the Corporation in its discretion (and not necessarily in the following order):

• the establishment of a process to identify, establish, adjudicate and otherwise resolve the rights of any remaining creditors of ACE (the "Claims Process");

- an initial distribution by ACE to its shareholders of an aggregate amount between \$250 million and \$300 million, within the weeks following the shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012, at the time to be determined by the Board. The range of the initial distribution has been determined having regard to the possible contingent liabilities of ACE and costs of the liquidation and considering that the Claims Process will still be pending at the time of the initial distribution;
- the review of the Corporation's property and the disposition of non-cash assets of the Corporation, including the remaining Class B voting shares and warrants of Air Canada held by ACE, as part of the liquidation process;
- one or more distributions to the shareholders of the remaining assets of the Corporation;
- at the time determined by the Board, the appointment of a liquidator and the termination and vesting in the liquidator of all of the powers of the directors and the shareholders of the Corporation;
- the cancellation of all outstanding shares of the Corporation and the termination of all remaining rights to acquire shares, including outstanding stock options issued pursuant to the Stock Option Plan of ACE;
- following the liquidation of the Corporation and the final payments to the Corporation's creditors and the final distribution to its shareholders, the dissolution of the Corporation through the filing by ACE of articles of dissolution and the issuance by the Director appointed under the CBCA of a certificate of dissolution; and
- all other acts required or advisable to liquidate the Corporation's business and dissolve the Corporation.

The timing and order of each step of the liquidation, including the appointment of the liquidator, the Claims Process, the distributions to shareholders and the cancellation of the shares of the Corporation, will be determined by the Corporation in its discretion based in part on the factors described herein under "The Proposed Liquidation". The final distribution to shareholders will be made once all of the other liquidation steps have been completed. In order to allow any remaining contingent liabilities of ACE, including those described below under "Claims Process – Contingencies", to expire or be otherwise settled or provided for, the final distribution will not occur before mid-year 2013. The final distribution could occur later than mid-year 2013 depending on the factors described below under "Final Distribution and Cancellation of Shares" and "Risk Factors".

Distributions to shareholders under the liquidation process will remain at the discretion of the Corporation and no assurances can be given as to the amount and timing of distributions under the liquidation process.

Appointment of Liquidator and Vesting in the Liquidator of the Powers of the Directors and Shareholders of the Corporation

At the time to be determined by the Board, the Corporation may apply to the Superior Court of Québec for an order providing for the appointment of a liquidator to become effective upon the issuance of such order or at any other time provided for in such order. In addition, the Corporation may also apply for an order providing for the vesting in the liquidator of all the powers of the directors and the shareholders of the Corporation, such vesting to be effective upon the issuance of such order or at any other time contemplated in such order. The directors of the Corporation will cease to hold their functions upon vesting of the powers of the directors in the liquidator in accordance with an order of the Superior Court of Québec. The Corporation expects that, shortly following the initial distribution to shareholders referred to below under "Distributions", the directors of the Corporation will cease to hold office and the liquidator will be appointed.

Claims Process

The Corporation will initiate a process to identify, establish, adjudicate and otherwise resolve any remaining Claims against ACE, referred to herein as the Claims Process. This will include sending notices to creditors in accordance with the requirements of the CBCA. As part of the Claims Process, the Corporation will take appropriate measures to identify and quantify the amount of any remaining contingent liabilities.

References to "Claims" in this Annual Information Form refer to the rights of any person against the Corporation which constitutes indebtedness of the Corporation or a liability or obligation of the Corporation, which are in existence at the determination date or based in whole or in part on facts which exist before or at the determination date and any interest that may be accrued thereon.

Liabilities

As at March 9, 2012, ACE's principal obligations consisted of liabilities of approximately \$1 million. ACE also anticipates future costs of approximately \$4 million, including the estimated cost of run off insurance coverage for directors and officers and estimated costs and fees of liquidation to be incurred after the annual and shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012, assuming that the liquidation is completed by mid-year 2013. These estimated liabilities and future costs do not include any contingent liabilities, or other Claims that may be made after the shareholder meeting.

The actual obligations of the Corporation may vary materially from the estimates set forth above, which are based on the Corporation's current estimates of the amount which may be required to satisfy the current liabilities of the Corporation and to pay the costs and expenses of operating the Corporation until the date of dissolution of the Corporation.

Contingencies

As part of the process leading to the issuance of the certificates of discharge described under "Proposed Liquidation - Overview" above, Revenu Québec has conducted a Goods and Service Tax ("GST") and Québec Sales Tax ("QST") audit of ACE and its subsidiaries, including ACTS LP and its predecessor, with respect to periods from September 1, 2006 to December 31, 2010.

Revenu Québec issued notices of reassessment ultimately claiming a total amount of \$37.7 million in GST (including penalties and interest) against ACE and ACTS LP, primarily with respect to certain importations of aircraft parts on the basis that it was Air Canada, as the *de facto* importer of goods, and not ACTS LP and its predecessor, which should have paid GST and should have been allowed to claim the refund relating to such GST. Based on this reassessment, Air Canada claimed additional GST refunds in the amount of \$33.4 million, corresponding to the amount of denied GST refunds for ACTS LP and its predecessor relating to importations where Air Canada would have been *de facto* importer. Subject to the terms of two indemnification agreements entered into on November 25, 2010 and January 14, 2011 between Air Canada and ACE, Air Canada paid an amount equal to the GST refunds received by it to ACE and ACTS LP on account of GST that should have been paid by Air Canada in connection with the importations. Pursuant to these indemnification agreements, ACE has agreed, *inter alia*, to indemnify and hold harmless Air Canada should Air Canada's entitlement to the GST refunds be successfully challenged in the future.

A portion of the above reassessment related to goods "in transit" on October 16, 2007, at the time of the sale of the ACTS business to ACTS Aero. Revenu Québec determined that ACTS Aero, and not ACTS LP (a subsidiary entity of ACE), should have paid the GST and claimed refunds relating to such GST. Subject to the terms of an indemnification agreement entered into on October 27, 2010 between Aveos Fleet Performance Inc. ("Aveos"), a successor to ACTS Aero, on the one hand, and ACE and ACTS LP, on the other hand, Aveos agreed to claim additional GST refunds in the amount of \$1.1 million and to pay such amount to ACE to reimburse it for GST paid by ACTS LP in connection with the importations. Pursuant to this indemnification agreement, ACE has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Aveos should Aveos' entitlement to such GST refunds be successfully challenged in the future.

As part of the same audit, Revenu Québec issued additional notices of reassessment claiming a total amount of \$7.4 million in GST and QST (including penalties and interest) against ACTS LP and ACE relating, *inter alia*, to certain intercompany transactions invoiced by either ACE or ACTS LP to Air Canada on which Revenu Québec considers that ACTS LP or ACE should have charged GST and QST in the amount of \$6.8 million. Further to such reassessment, Air Canada has paid an amount of \$6.8 million to ACTS LP and ACE. Air Canada then claimed additional GST/QST refunds for the same amount. Pursuant to the terms of an additional indemnification agreement entered into on November 28, 2011 by and between Air Canada, ACE and ACTS LP, ACE has agreed, *inter alia*, to indemnify and hold harmless Air Canada should Air Canada's entitlement to the GST/QST refunds be successfully challenged in the future.

ACE recognized in each of the indemnification agreements entered into with Air Canada that such agreements constitute an obligation and liability to Air Canada that must be adequately discharged or provided for before ACE may be dissolved or liquidated. The indemnity agreement entered into on November 28, 2011 contains an arbitration mechanism which would apply should the parties fail to reach an agreement on how to adequately discharge or provide for the obligations contained therein.

Guarantee of an Air Canada Obligation

On May 7, 2009, ACE intervened into the employment agreement between Air Canada and Mr. Calin Rovinescu, Air Canada's President and Chief Executive Officer, to guarantee the payments required of Air Canada under the agreement. The guarantee shall automatically terminate upon the earlier of (i) April 1, 2014 and (ii) the date on which the shareholders of ACE approve the winding-up and liquidation of ACE. In the event that such approval is obtained from ACE's shareholders and a liquidator is not appointed within 180 days of the shareholders' vote, the guarantee shall automatically resume and continue in full force and effect until the earlier of (i) April 1, 2014 and (ii) the date on which such a liquidator shall have been appointed.

Directors and Officers

Certain officers of ACE have entered into consulting and related agreements with ACE pursuant to which they are entitled to receive payments of consulting fees. Such arrangements are summarized in the Management Proxy Circular dated March 9, 2012 under the sections entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" and "Compensation of Certain Executive Officers".

In addition, the Corporation will continue, or arrange for the continuance of, indemnification arrangements and directors' and officers' liability insurance for the present and former directors and officers of ACE for a period of seven years from the date of the appointment of a liquidator and vesting in the liquidator of all of the powers of the directors of the Corporation. The directors and officers of the Corporation benefit from contractual indemnification arrangements in accordance with the terms of the indemnification agreements entered into with the Corporation.

Review of Assets and Liquidation

The Corporation will proceed with a review of its assets. As part of such review, the Corporation will evaluate options with respect to the shares of Air Canada that it holds. ACE will review alternatives to dispose of its remaining Class B voting shares and warrants of Air Canada with a view to distributing the cash proceeds as part of the liquidation.

The Corporation will also cause its remaining inactive subsidiaries to be liquidated and any remaining assets of such subsidiaries paid to the Corporation after the settlement of any liabilities and contingent liabilities of such subsidiaries.

Following completion of such review, the Corporation will then proceed with the disposition for cash of any non-cash assets of the Corporation that it has determined should be disposed of, in an orderly fashion.

Distributions

The Corporation will make two or more distributions to the shareholders representing their proportionate share of ACE's remaining net assets, after payments made to ACE's creditors and provisions for contingent liabilities.

The Corporation will need to be satisfied that, during the period from the effectiveness of the shareholder resolution approving its liquidation until its dissolution, it maintains appropriate reserves to cover liabilities and contingent liabilities, including any liabilities identified pursuant to the Claims Process referred to above and the contingent liabilities referred to above under "Claims Process – Contingent Liabilities". The amount of such reserves, as fixed by the Corporation from time to time, will determine the amount and timing of the distributions to shareholders under the liquidation. The consolidated liabilities, including contingent liabilities, will fall into two broad categories of potential liabilities: (i) the liabilities identified in connection with the Claims Process; and (ii) the costs of liquidation and dissolution. The Corporation has the right to distribute a portion of the net assets prior to the completion of the Claims Process.

The Corporation expects to make an initial distribution to its shareholders of an aggregate amount between \$250 million and \$300 million, within the weeks following the shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012, at the time to be determined by the Board. The range of the initial distribution has been determined having regard to the possible contingent liabilities of ACE and costs of the liquidation and considering that the Claims Process will still be pending at the time of the initial distribution.

Except as mentioned above, neither the timing nor the number and amounts of distributions to the shareholders has been determined at this time. The Corporation will consider various factors with respect to the timing of the distributions, some of which are beyond the Corporation's control. These include, among others, the duration and outcome of the Claims Process and the determination of the final amount, or settlement, of any outstanding contingent liabilities, including those described under "Claims Process - Contingencies" above. Timing of the distributions is subject to the discretion of the Corporation and there can be no assurance as to when the distributions can be made.

Final Distribution and Cancellation of Shares

The Corporation will hold undistributed cash or other assets of the Corporation as a reserve to satisfy the costs of the Liquidation and the winding down of the affairs of ACE and its ultimate dissolution, which costs are currently estimated to be approximately \$4 million from the date of the Meeting until mid-year 2013, as well as any potential claims or liabilities, including the contingent liabilities referred to under "Claims Process – Contingencies" above, that may arise or be asserted after the Meeting.

Shareholders will rank *pari passu* with each other in receiving their pro rata share of any distributions out of the Corporation's assets prior to dissolution.

The timing of each relevant step of the liquidation, including the timing of the distributions to shareholders and the cancellation of the shares of the Corporation, will be determined by the Corporation in its discretion based in part on the factors described herein. The cancellation of the shares may occur before the final distribution to the shareholders of the Corporation. However, the final distribution to shareholders and the cancellation of the shares of the Corporation will not occur earlier than mid-year 2013 in order to allow any remaining contingent liabilities, including those described under "Claims Process – Contingencies" above, to expire or be otherwise settled or provided for.

After the cancellation of the shares of ACE, the right of a shareholder to receive any distribution will not be assignable or otherwise transferable except by sole operation of law or testamentary will. The Corporation expects that, in the event of the cancellation of its shares, it will be in a position to apply to cease to be a reporting issuer subject to continuous disclosure obligations under applicable Canadian securities laws. See "Stock Exchange Listing and Status as a Reporting Issuer" below.

Dissolution

Following the liquidation of the Corporation and the final payments to the Corporation's creditors and the final distribution to the Corporation's shareholders, the Corporation will be dissolved through the filing by ACE of articles of dissolution and the issuance by the Director appointed under the CBCA of a certificate of dissolution.

Potential Liability of Shareholders

Section 226 of the CBCA provides that, despite the dissolution of a corporation under the CBCA, a civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding may be brought against the corporation within two years after the dissolution, as if the corporation had not been dissolved, and provides, among other things, that any property that would have been available to satisfy any judgment or order if the corporation had not been dissolved, remains available for such purpose.

Section 226 of the CBCA also provides that each shareholder to whom any of the Corporation's property has been distributed is liable to any person claiming under section 226 of the CBCA to the extent of the amount received by that shareholder upon the distribution, and an action to enforce such liability may be brought within two years after the date of the dissolution.

The Claims Process described above is intended to reduce the risk that any claims may arise following the liquidation and dissolution of the Corporation, but there is no certainty that this risk will be eliminated completely.

Stock Exchange Listing and Status as a Reporting Issuer

Until an application is made and an order is issued by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities deeming ACE to no longer be a "reporting issuer", ACE will continue to be subject to ongoing disclosure and other obligations as a reporting issuer under applicable securities legislation in Canada. It is intended that, after the cancellation of the Common Shares, which is not expect to occur before mid-year 2013, ACE will apply to the Canadian securities regulatory authorities for such an order.

ACE intends to have the Common Shares to be issued upon the Share Conversion listed on the TSX. There can be no assurance that the Common Shares will continue to be listed on, and meet the listing requirements of, the TSX. Although the Corporation may seek an alternative listing should the Common Shares be delisted from their current market, there can be no assurance that such listing can be obtained or that such listing will provide appropriate liquidity for the shareholders. Furthermore, the Corporation may decide to cancel the Common Shares and thus delist them but no such cancellation will occur until mid-year 2013.

Corporate Structure

As at March 9, 2012, in addition to cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$351 million, ACE's principal holding is an 11.11% equity interest in Air Canada (31 million Class B voting shares of Air Canada) and 2.5 million Air Canada warrants for the purchase of Air Canada Class B voting shares at exercise prices of \$1.44 (1.25 million warrants) and \$1.51 (1.25 million warrants) per share. ACE is also the sole shareholder of a number of inactive subsidiaries, each of which represents not more than 10% of the consolidated assets and not more than 10% of the consolidated sales and operating revenues of ACE, and all of which, in the aggregate, represent not more than 20% of the total consolidated assets and the total consolidated sales and operating revenues of ACE at December 31, 2011.

Air Canada

Air Canada is Canada's largest domestic, U.S. transborder and international airline and the largest provider of scheduled passenger services in the Canadian market, the Canada-US transborder market as well as the international market to and from Canada.

Air Canada enhances its network through a capacity purchase agreement (the "Jazz CPA") with Jazz Aviation LP ("Jazz"), the successor to Jazz Air LP and a subsidiary of Chorus Aviation Inc., pursuant to which Air Canada purchases the greater part of Jazz's fleet capacity based on predetermined rates and Air Canada determines the routes and schedule which Jazz operates on Air Canada's behalf.

Air Canada is a founding member of the Star Alliance® network. Through its membership in the Star Alliance® network, Air Canada is able to offer its customers access to additional destinations in various countries, as well as reciprocal participation in frequent flyer programs and use of airport lounges.

Through its long-term relationship with Aeroplan Canada Inc., a subsidiary of Groupe Aeroplan Inc. doing business as Aimia, Air Canada builds customer loyalty by offering those customers who are Aeroplan® members the opportunity to earn Aeroplan® Miles when they fly with Air Canada.

Air Canada also generates revenues from its Air Canada Cargo services division and from tour operator services provided by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Touram Limited Partnership (doing business as "Air Canada Vacations").

The shares of Air Canada are listed on the TSX under the symbol AC.A for its Class A variable voting shares and the symbol AC.B for its Class B voting shares. The AC Offering Warrants referred to below under "Evolution of Business" are also listed on the TSX under the symbol AC.WT.

The head office of Air Canada is located at 7373 Côte Vertu Boulevard West, Saint-Laurent, Québec, H4S 1Z3. Air Canada's website address is www.aircanada.com (for greater certainty, this website is not in any way incorporated by reference herein).

Evolution of Business

Air Canada's Consolidated Plan of Reorganization, Compromise and Arrangement

On September 30, 2004, Air Canada and certain of its then wholly-owned subsidiaries emerged from creditor protection under the CCAA and implemented the Plan. The purpose of the Plan, together with Air Canada's new business strategy, was to restructure the capitalization, operations and cost structure of Air Canada. The Plan and the new business strategy were designed to:

- reduce Air Canada's operating costs to a competitive level through the renegotiation of collective bargaining agreements, aircraft leases, property leases and various other commercial agreements;
- (ii) implement a fleet renewal program to achieve the appropriate number, size and mix of aircraft for Air Canada's route network;
- (iii) complete a restructuring of Air Canada's debt and lease obligations;
- (iv) redefine Air Canada's core product offerings to enable it to compete effectively in the current and future airline industry environment; and
- (v) reorganize Air Canada's corporate structure to enable certain key businesses to better compete for third party business and generate value for their stakeholders.

The implementation of the Plan reduced Air Canada's debt (net of cash and cash equivalents) and lease obligations (on a present value basis) to approximately \$4 billion as at December 31, 2004 compared to \$12 billion as at December 31, 2002, prior to Air Canada's filing for protection under the CCAA. Also, as part of the implementation of the Plan, all the preferred shares of Air Canada were cancelled and all of the holders of common shares and Class A non-voting shares of Air Canada exchanged their shares for Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares. Pursuant to such exchange, the former holders of common shares and Class A non-voting shares of Air Canada received 0.01% of the fully diluted equity of ACE upon emergence from the CCAA proceedings.

On September 30, 2004, as part of the implementation of the Plan, Air Canada reorganized its corporate structure. Pursuant to such corporate reorganization, APLN Limited Partnership (a predecessor to Aeroplan), Jazz Air Inc. (the predecessor to Jazz Air Limited Partnership and Jazz Air LP) and Touram Inc. (the predecessor to Touram Limited Partnership), which were already established as stand-alone entities under Air Canada, became stand-alone entities under ACE, while ACTS Limited Partnership (a predecessor to ACTS LP), AC Cargo Limited Partnership and ACGHS Limited Partnership were established as stand-alone limited partnerships under ACE.

Rights Offering

As part of the Plan, ACE offered rights to Air Canada's creditors with proven claims to subscribe for up to \$850 million of Voting Shares and/or Variable Voting Shares. Pursuant to its standby purchase agreement with Air Canada, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. ("Deutsche Bank") agreed to act as the exclusive standby purchaser in respect of the rights offering. Deutsche Bank and the participants in its syndicate subscribed for all the Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares not otherwise subscribed for by the creditors at a subscription price per share of \$21.50, which represented the subscription price of \$20 paid by creditors, plus a premium of \$1.50. On September 30, 2004, ACE completed the issuance of Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares under such rights offering for total gross proceeds of \$865 million, including the amount of the premium paid by Deutsche Bank and the participants of its syndicate pursuant to the standby purchase agreement.

Investment Agreement

On September 30, 2004, Promontoria Holding III B.V. (the "Cerberus Affiliate") invested \$250 million in ACE in consideration for the issuance to it of 12,500,000 preferred shares in the capital of ACE (the "Preferred Shares") initially convertible into 9.16% of the fully diluted equity of ACE upon emergence from the CCAA proceedings.

Pursuant to the investment agreement with the Cerberus Affiliate dated June 23, 2004 ("Investment Agreement"), three of the then eleven members of the board of directors of ACE appointed pursuant to the Plan were designated by the Cerberus Affiliate. The Investment Agreement provided the Cerberus Affiliate with director nomination rights and access to certain financial and operating information of ACE.

ACE indirectly purchased for cancellation the Preferred Shares held by the Cerberus Affiliate on January 19, 2009 as a result of ACE's offer to purchase all of the issued and outstanding Preferred Shares dated December 12, 2008. The Cerberus Affiliate no longer holds any Preferred Shares nor any rights to designate members of the board of directors of ACE.

Public Offering of ACE Voting Shares, Variable Voting Shares and Convertible Senior Notes due 2035

On April 6, 2005, ACE completed a public offering of an aggregate of 11.35 million Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares at a price of \$37 per share for gross proceeds of approximately \$420 million and approximately \$300 million of 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2035 (the "Notes"). ACE used

approximately \$553 million of the aggregate net cash proceeds of the offerings to repay all of its outstanding debt under a credit facility with General Electric Capital Corporation. On April 13, 2005, following the exercise of the over-allotment option by the underwriters, ACE issued an additional 1,135,000 Variable Voting Shares at a price of \$37 per share and \$30 million of Notes for additional aggregate gross proceeds of approximately \$72 million. ACE used the additional proceeds for general corporate purposes.

Initial Public Offering of Aeroplan Income Fund

On June 29, 2005, Aeroplan Income Fund completed its initial public offering of 25 million trust units at a price of \$10 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately \$250 million. On June 30, 2005, following the exercise of the over-allotment option by the underwriters, Aeroplan Income Fund issued an additional 3.75 million trust units at a price of \$10 per unit for additional gross proceeds of approximately \$37.5 million.

US Airways Group Inc.

On September 27, 2005, ACE invested \$87 million (US\$75 million) in US Airways Group Inc. ("US Airways") in conjunction with US Airways' exit from US bankruptcy proceedings. In connection with the equity investment, ACE also received options to purchase additional common shares in US Airways. On closing of the transaction, ACE sold these options for proceeds of \$1 million. In the second and third quarters of 2006, ACE disposed of 4.5 million shares of its holdings in US Airways for net proceeds of \$232 million and recorded a gain of \$152 million. During 2007, ACE disposed of the remaining 500,000 shares in US Airways for net proceeds of \$16 million.

Initial Public Offering of Jazz Air Income Fund

On February 2, 2006, Jazz Air Income Fund completed its initial public offering of 23.5 million trust units at a price of \$10 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately \$235 million. On February 27, 2006, following the exercise of the over-allotment option by the underwriters, Jazz Air Income Fund issued an additional 1.5 million trust units at a price of \$10 per unit for additional gross proceeds of approximately \$15 million.

Distribution of Trust Units of Aeroplan Income Fund by ACE

On March 3, 2006, ACE effected a distribution by way of reduction of capital to its shareholders of record as at such date of 0.18 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund per Variable Voting Share, Voting Share and Preferred Share (on an as converted basis) of ACE. For the purposes of the distribution, ACE converted 20,204,165 limited partnership units of Aeroplan Limited Partnership into 20,204,165 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund which were distributed to ACE's shareholders on the record date.

Initial Public Offering and Secondary Public Offering of Air Canada Shares

On November 24, 2006, Air Canada and ACE completed an initial public offering and secondary offering of an aggregate 25 million Class A variable voting shares and Class B voting shares of Air Canada at a price of \$21 per share for gross proceeds of \$525 million. Through the initial public offering, Air Canada issued and sold an aggregate of 9,523,810 Class A variable voting shares and Class B voting shares for gross proceeds of approximately \$200 million. In the secondary offering, ACE sold an aggregate of 15,476,190 Class A variable voting shares of Air Canada for gross proceeds of approximately \$225 million.

Prior to the closing of the initial public offering, ACE proceeded with a reorganization of its corporate structure. Pursuant to such reorganization, the partnership interests, as well as the interests in the general partners of ACGHS Limited Partnership and AC Cargo Limited Partnership not held by Air Canada, were transferred to Air Canada and ACE transferred a 51% partnership interest in, as well as a 51% interest in the general partner of, Touram Limited Partnership to Air Canada. In 2007, ACE sold to Air Canada its remaining 49% interest in Touram Limited Partnership causing Touram Limited Partnership to be 100% owned by Air Canada.

Further to such initial public offering and secondary offering, ACE held a 75% ownership interest in Air Canada.

Statutory Arrangement of ACE and Initial Distribution to its Shareholders

On October 5, 2006, ACE's shareholders approved a statutory arrangement pursuant to the CBCA granting authority to the board of directors of ACE to make, from time to time, one or more distributions in an aggregate amount of up to \$2 billion to ACE shareholders by way of reduction of the stated capital on the Variable Voting Shares, Voting Shares and Preferred Shares.

Pursuant to the statutory arrangement, ACE announced on December 28, 2006 the terms of an initial distribution of 50 million trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund to ACE shareholders. ACE shareholders on January 10, 2007, the record date for the distribution, received a distribution of approximately 0.442 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund per Variable Voting Share, Voting Share and Preferred Share (on an as converted basis) of ACE.

Acquisition by ACTS LP of Majority Stake of Aeroman

On February 13, 2007, ACTS LP, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired 80% of Aeroman, the aircraft maintenance division of Grupo TACA of El Salvador. Total consideration for this acquisition included cash as well as a right to acquire an equity stake in ACTS LP. The cash component of US\$44.7 million consisted of cash of US\$42.7 million on closing and milestone payments of up to US\$2 million in the aggregate, funded by ACTS LP through ACE's available cash resources. A Class A non-voting exchangeable share in a wholly-owned subsidiary of ACTS LP was issued to Grupo TACA. The rights attached to the exchangeable share provided for the exchange of such share into an equity stake in ACTS LP upon the closing of a monetization transaction pertaining to ACTS LP. As part of the monetization process, on October 16, 2007, the exchangeable share was exchanged for a 5% equity stake in ACTS Aero Technical Support & Services Holdings sarl ("ACTS Aero") and approximately \$31 million in cash. Grupo TACA also had a put option to sell its equity in ACTS Aero to ACE over the period of 12 months commencing on October 16, 2007, which was exercised in June 2008.

Second Distribution to ACE Shareholders under Statutory Arrangement

On March 2, 2007, ACE announced a second distribution to its shareholders by way of reduction of stated capital under the statutory arrangement approved on October 5, 2006, pursuant to which ACE shareholders of record on March 14, 2007 received approximately 0.177 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund and 0.219 trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund per Variable Voting Share, Voting Share and Preferred Share (on an as converted basis) of ACE.

Third Distribution to ACE Shareholders under Statutory Arrangement

On May 11, 2007, ACE announced a third distribution to its shareholders by way of reduction of stated capital under the statutory arrangement approved on October 5, 2006, pursuant to which ACE

shareholders of record on May 24, 2007 received approximately 0.157 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund and 0.105 trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund per Variable Voting Share, Voting Share and Preferred Share (on an as converted basis) of ACE.

Monetization of ACTS LP

On June 22, 2007, ACE announced that it had agreed to sell a 70% interest in the business of its wholly-owned maintenance, repair and overhaul subsidiary ACTS LP to a consortium consisting of Sageview Capital LLC, a private investment firm, and KKR Private Equity Investors, L.P., the publicly traded fund of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. The transaction was completed on October 16, 2007 and ACE received net cash proceeds of \$723 million. Within six months of closing, ACE was entitled to receive up to an additional \$40 million in cash proceeds, from funds held in escrow, conditional upon the completion of certain supplier contracts within specified terms. On January 14, 2008, ACE announced that it had received the full balance of \$40 million. Following the transaction, ACE continued to own 100% of ACTS LP, which became a non-operating entity, and ACTS Aero conducted the business previously operated by ACTS LP.

Following the redemption of the exchangeable share issued to a party related to Grupo TACA, the establishment of an initial ACTS Long Term Incentive Plan and the exercise of the put option by an entity related to Grupo TACA in June 2008 to sell its 5% equity interest in ACTS Aero to ACE for approximately \$19 million, ACE held a 27.8% equity interest in ACTS Aero.

Secondary Offering of Trust Units of Jazz Air Income Fund and Aeroplan Income Fund

On October 1, 2007, ACE announced that it had entered into an agreement with a group of underwriters to sell an aggregate of 35.5 million trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund at a price of \$7.75 per trust unit for gross proceeds of \$275.1 million. On the same day, ACE announced that it had also entered into an agreement with a group of underwriters to sell an aggregate of 22 million trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund at a price of \$21.90 per unit, for gross proceeds of \$481.8 million. On October 22, 2007, ACE completed the secondary offering of 22 million trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund and 35.5 million trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund and received aggregate net proceeds of \$726 million.

Substantial Issuer Bid: ACE Offer to Repurchase up to \$1.5 billion of its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares

On December 3, 2007, ACE announced a substantial issuer bid to purchase for cancellation up to \$1.5 billion of its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares. The offer was made by way of a "modified Dutch auction" and expired at 5:00 p.m. (Montreal time) on January 10, 2008. The holders of Preferred Shares were entitled to participate in the offer by depositing their Preferred Shares on an as-converted basis. On January 10, 2008, ACE confirmed that it had taken up and accepted for purchase and cancellation a total of 40,023,427 Variable Voting Shares and 9,894,166 Voting Shares at a price of \$30 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$1.498 billion. No Preferred Shares of ACE were deposited under the offer.

Sale of 13 million Trust Units of Jazz Air Income Fund

On January 16, 2008, ACE announced its acceptance of an offer to sell a total of 13 million trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund on an exempt trade basis to certain funds and accounts managed by West Face Capital Inc. and to Sunrise Partners Limited Partnership at a price of \$7.45 per unit representing total gross proceeds to ACE of approximately \$96.85 million. The sale closed on January 24, 2008. Immediately following the closing of the sale, ACE's interest in Jazz Air Income Fund represented approximately 9.5% of all the trust units issued and outstanding.

Sale of 20.4 million Trust Units of Aeroplan Income Fund

On April 2, 2008, ACE announced that it had entered into an agreement with a group of underwriters to sell an aggregate of 20.4 million trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund at a price of \$17.50 per unit for gross proceeds of \$357 million. On April 21, 2007, ACE completed the secondary offering of 20.4 million trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund and received aggregate net proceeds of approximately \$342.7 million. Immediately following the offering, ACE's interest in Aeroplan Income Fund represented approximately 9.9% of all the trust units issued and outstanding.

Substantial Issuer Bid: ACE Offer to Repurchase up to \$500 million of its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares

On May 9, 2008, ACE announced a substantial issuer bid to purchase for cancellation up to \$500 million of its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares. The offer was made by way of a "modified Dutch auction" and expired at 5:00 p.m. (Montreal time) on June 18, 2008. The holders of Preferred Shares were entitled to participate in the offer by depositing their Preferred Shares on an as-converted basis. On June 18, 2008, ACE confirmed that it had taken up and accepted for purchase and cancellation a total of 12,537,084 Variable Voting Shares and 10,190,187 Voting Shares at a price of \$22 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$500 million. No Preferred Shares of ACE were deposited under the offer.

Sale of ACE's Remaining Trust Units of Aeroplan Income Fund and Jazz Air Income Fund

On May 28, 2008, ACE announced that it had sold in the market a total of 19,892,088 trust units of Aeroplan Income Fund for total net proceeds to ACE of approximately \$349.3 million and a total of 11,726,920 trust units of Jazz Air Income Fund for total net proceeds to ACE of approximately \$85.0 million.

Immediately following such transactions, ACE retained no further interest in Aeroplan Income Fund and Jazz Air Income Fund.

Substantial Issuer Bids: ACE Offer to Repurchase Outstanding Notes and Preferred Shares

On December 10, 2008, ACE announced that its board of directors had authorized a substantial issuer bid to purchase for cancellation all of its outstanding Notes at a price of \$900 in cash for each \$1,000 principal amount of Notes. On January 19, 2009, ACE announced that \$259 million aggregate principal amount of Notes were deposited and taken up under the offer for an aggregate purchase price of \$233 million.

On December 10, 2008, ACE also announced that its board of directors had authorized a substantial issuer bid to indirectly purchase for cancellation all of its outstanding Preferred Shares at a price of \$20 in cash per Preferred Share. On January 19, 2009, ACE announced that an aggregate of 8.3 million Preferred Shares had been deposited and taken up under the offer for an aggregate purchase price of \$166 million.

Intention to Seek Court and Shareholder Approvals to Liquidate and Distribute Assets to Shareholders

On December 10, 2008, ACE also announced its intention to seek court and shareholder approvals for a plan of arrangement pursuant to which it would proceed with a liquidation and its net assets, including its shares in Air Canada, would be distributed after providing for outstanding liabilities and costs of the transaction.

On December 19, 2008, ACE announced that, subject to court and regulatory approvals, it would hold a special meeting of shareholders on February 27, 2009 in Montreal. At the meeting, shareholders would be asked to approve a plan of arrangement pursuant to which a court appointed liquidator would proceed with the distribution of ACE's net assets after providing for outstanding liabilities and costs of the transaction.

On January 21, 2009, ACE announced that the date of the special shareholders meeting at which shareholders would be asked to approve the previously announced plan of arrangement for the liquidation and dissolution of ACE was postponed to April 7, 2009. Given the results of the substantial issuer bids for Notes and Preferred Shares announced on December 10, 2008, and also considering the stated intent to oppose the plan of arrangement made public by certain shareholders of ACE and the tax and other preparatory work required in advance of the plan of arrangement, ACE had determined that the postponement of the shareholders meeting was appropriate. ACE announced that, in the meantime, it would continue to explore opportunities, including possible further substantial issuer bids, and that, in light of the publicly stated opposition of certain shareholders with respect to the plan of arrangement, it would also consider other alternatives available to it with a view to achieving an optimal outcome.

Substantial Issuer Bid: ACE Offer to Repurchase Outstanding Preferred Shares

On February 10, 2009, ACE announced a substantial issuer bid to purchase for cancellation its remaining 4.2 million convertible Preferred Shares outstanding at a price of \$20 in cash per Preferred Share. ACE had signed a lock up agreement with GLG Market Neutral Fund, which held 1 million Preferred Shares, to tender into the offering. On March 19, 2009, ACE confirmed that it had taken up and accepted for purchase and cancellation 1 million Preferred Shares for an aggregate purchase price of \$20 million.

ACE Postpones Shareholder Meeting

On March 2, 2009, ACE announced that, as it was continuing to engage with its shareholders and in light of current market conditions, the special meeting of shareholders of ACE scheduled for April 7, 2009 at which shareholders would have been asked to approve the previously announced plan of arrangement for the liquidation and dissolution of ACE, had been postponed. ACE also announced that it continued to evaluate all the alternatives available to it with a view to arriving at an optimal outcome.

Air Canada Appoints New President and Chief Executive Officer

On March 30, 2009, Air Canada announced the appointment of Calin Rovinescu as President and Chief Executive Officer effective April 1, 2009.

Air Canada Credit Facility

On July 29, 2009, ACE announced that it had taken a \$150 million participation in Air Canada's \$600 million credit facility. As permitted under the terms of the credit facility, an additional \$100 million was drawn down from new lenders in February 2010. Under the credit facility, ACE received on July 30, 2009 1,250,000 warrants for the purchase of Class B Voting Shares of Air Canada at an exercise price of \$1.51 per share, exercisable at any time, and expiring on July 30, 2013. On October 19, 2009, ACE

received an additional 1,250,000 warrants for the purchase of Air Canada Class B voting shares with an exercise price of \$1.44 per share, exercisable at any time, and expiring on October 13, 2013.

ACE's pro-rata share of the credit facility was repayable in 16 consecutive quarterly instalments commencing in August 2010 of \$7.5 million with the final instalment of \$30 million due in July 2014. The credit facility could be repaid at any time, in whole or in part, with the payments of applicable fees.

Air Canada's obligations under the credit facility were secured by a first priority security interest and hypothec over substantially all the present and after-acquired property of Air Canada and its subsidiaries, subject to certain exclusions and permitted liens.

On August 3, 2010, Air Canada repaid to ACE its \$150 million share of the outstanding debt under Air Canada's secured credit facility, together with interest and prepayment fees for total proceeds to ACE of \$156 million.

ACE Repurchases Remaining Preferred Shares

On September 21, 2009, ACE announced it had entered into an agreement with Morgan Stanley Canada Limited pursuant to which ACE indirectly acquired for cancellation all of its remaining 3.2 million preferred shares at a price of \$23.00 per preferred share for an aggregate purchase price of \$73,600,000. The transaction was implemented pursuant to an exemption from the formal issuer bid and valuation requirements of applicable securities laws.

Air Canada Completes Offering of Units and Issuance of Shares under Pension Funding Arrangements

On October 27, 2009, Air Canada announced that it had completed the closing of an offering of 160,500,000 units, with each unit comprised of one Class A variable voting share or one Class B voting share of Air Canada, and one-half of one share purchase warrant (each whole warrant, an "AC Offering Warrant"). Each AC Offering Warrant entitles its holder to purchase one Class A variable voting share or one Class B voting share of Air Canada at an exercise price of \$2.20 per share, for an aggregate of 80,250,000 shares of Air Canada issuable upon the exercise of the AC Offering Warrants (subject to standard adjustments in accordance with the terms of the AC Offering Warrants). The AC Offering Warrants expire on October 27, 2012, subject to early termination in accordance with their terms. ACE did not purchase units under such offering.

On October 26, 2009, Air Canada issued 17.6 million Class B voting shares to a trust under the pension funding agreements between Air Canada and its unions announced by Air Canada in July 2009.

As a result of these issuances of shares by Air Canada, ACE's ownership interest in shares of Air Canada decreased to 27%.

Substantial Issuer Bid: ACE Offer to Repurchase up to \$20 million of its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares

On November 23, 2009, ACE announced the launch of a substantial issuer bid to purchase for cancellation up to \$20 million of ACE's Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares. On January 6, 2010, ACE confirmed that it had taken up and accepted for purchase and cancellation a total of 1,401,094 Variable Voting Shares and 1,824,711 Voting Shares at a price of \$6.20 per share for an aggregate purchase price of \$20 million.

ACE Redeems its Remaining Convertible Notes

On December 14, 2009, ACE redeemed all of its remaining Notes in accordance with their terms at a redemption price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest for an aggregate redemption price of approximately \$64 million.

Aveos Restructuring and Lock-Up Agreement

On January 22, 2010, ACE entered into a Restructuring and Lockup Agreement with Aveos, ACTS Aero, lenders and other shareholders. The restructuring was completed on March 12, 2010. Under the terms of the restructuring, ACE transferred its 27.8% ownership interest in ACTS Aero to a newly formed company, in which ACE has no interest, for nil consideration. Under the terms of a Release Agreement entered into on March 12, 2010, ACE and ACTS LP were released from substantially any claims that may arise under the Asset Purchase Agreement relating to the monetization of ACTS LP on October 16, 2007, in return for a payment of \$1.25 million.

Air Canada Repays its \$150 million Loan from ACE

On August 3, 2010, Air Canada repaid to ACE its \$150 million share of the outstanding debt under Air Canada's secured credit facility, together with interest and prepayment fees for total proceeds to ACE of \$156 million.

Secondary Offering of Shares of Air Canada

On December 23, 2010, ACE completed a secondary offering on a bought deal basis of 44,000,000 Class B voting shares of Air Canada at an offering price of \$3.70 per Class B voting share for aggregate gross proceeds of \$163 million (net proceeds of approximately \$156 million). Following the offering, ACE beneficially owns 31,000,000 Class B voting shares of Air Canada representing 11.11% of the Class A variable voting shares and Class B voting shares of Air Canada issued and outstanding on a combined basis.

ACE Appoints Brian Dunne as President

On January 1, 2011, Brian Dunne, previously Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of ACE, became the President and Chief Financial Officer of ACE.

Certificates of Discharge and Tax Audits

In March 2010, ACE applied for certificates of discharge from the CRA and Revenu Québec. ACE actively assisted the CRA and Revenu Québec with their audits of ACE's income tax returns for the years 2005 to 2010. In addition to the audits of income tax returns, ACE assisted with audits in respect of other taxes. The audits of income tax returns and other taxes required a detailed review of all of the significant corporate transactions undertaken by ACE since its incorporation in 2004, together with a detailed review of all of its returns.

In late 2010, ACE received notices of reassessment from Revenu Québec in the amount of \$37.7 million. This amount was paid. The reassessments primarily related to audits of GST and QST in respect of ACTS LP, and its predecessor ACTS Limited Partnership, for periods prior to ACE's monetization of ACTS LP in October 2007. \$35.1 million of such reassessments were recovered from Air Canada and other parties. The total recovery amount of \$35.1 million included \$33.4 million recovered from Air Canada and \$1.1 million recovered from Aveos following their filings of related Input Tax Credits ("ITC") from the CRA.

ACE has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Air Canada and Aveos from loss should the additional ITC claims be reassessed in the future.

Additional notices of reassessment in respect of GST and QST amounting to \$7.4 million were received and paid in the second quarter of 2011. \$6.8 million of such reassessments were recovered from Air Canada in the fourth quarter of 2011. ACE has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless Air Canada from loss should related additional ITC claims by Air Canada be reassessed in the future.

In the second quarter of 2011, ACE also received and paid a notice of reassessment for other taxes from Revenu Québec in the amount of \$2.9 million. The reassessment relates to 2005.

The audits of income tax returns and of all other taxes are now complete and additional reassessments of \$4 million were paid in the first quarter of 2012.

A certificate of discharge was issued by the CRA on March 7, 2012 in connection with all taxation years ended on or prior to December 31, 2010. A similar certificate is expected to be issued by Revenu Quebec shortly.

ACE does not expect to incur any income tax liabilities for the taxation years ended December 31, 2011 and beyond, or to incur liabilities for other taxes over and above the amounts incurred in the ordinary course of business. Liabilities for all taxes up to March 9, 2012 have been paid or provided for.

RISK FACTORS

ACE has identified the following risks which may have a material adverse impact on ACE's business, results of operations and financial condition. The risks identified by ACE may not be the only risks faced by ACE. Other risks which ACE is not aware of or which ACE currently deems to be immaterial may surface and have a material adverse impact on ACE's business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Winding-up is Subject to Approval by ACE's Shareholders

The winding-up is subject to the approval by ACE's shareholders. Should ACE be unable to obtain the approval of the shareholders or do so in a timely manner, ACE may have to consider alternatives and incur costs and fees which will reduce the net assets available for distribution to shareholders.

A Substantial Portion of ACE's Cash is Invested in Cash Equivalents

A substantial portion of ACE's cash is invested in cash equivalents which are subject to credit exposure and interest rate fluctuations which could change the value of these investments. These investments are made in accordance with an investment policy approved by the Board of Directors. Although ACE's investment policy is designed to provide for short-term liquidity and low levels of risk, such investments are subject to credit exposure and interest rate fluctuations. Any decrease in the fair value of these investments would reduce the amount available for distribution to shareholders.

Fair Value of ACE's Interest in Air Canada may Change

The fair value of ACE's equity interest in Air Canada is subject to market conditions based on the financial performance of Air Canada and to any risks and uncertainties relating to Air Canada, as well as any, movements in the price of publicly-traded airline stocks and general market conditions. Any decrease in the market price of Air Canada shares will reduce the amount available for distribution to shareholders.

Contingent Liabilities

As part of the winding-up process, a Claims Process will be initiated pursuant to which any Claims against the Corporation will be identified and resolved. It is possible that through this process additional liabilities will be identified and accrued or that Claims will be filed that may result in costs to ACE. In addition, the contingent liabilities described in "The Corporation – Proposed Liquidation – Claims Process – Contingencies" of this Annual Information Form, relating to GST indemnity agreements, may impact the amount and timing of distributions.

Timeline of Distributions

The timing and amounts of distributions under the liquidation process will be at the discretion of ACE and, eventually, of the liquidator to be appointed. Distributions may be delayed as a result of matters or events outside of the control of ACE or the liquidator. No assurances can be given as to the timing and amount of any distribution, under the liquidation process.

Actual Costs Incurred up to and During Liquidation May Exceed Current Estimates

The costs to be incurred up to and during liquidation have been estimated at approximately \$4 million. See "The Corporation – Proposed Liquidation – Claims Process – Liabilities" above. Such estimated costs are subject to change. The estimated costs are based on assumptions regarding the timing of the process and resolution of various matters. If there are delays or changes in these matters, actual costs incurred may differ significantly, which may reduce the amount available for distribution to shareholders.

MARKET FOR SECURITIES

The Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares are traded on the TSX under the trading symbols "ACE.A" and "ACE.B", respectively. The Corporation has applied to the TSX for the listing of the Common Shares issuable upon completion of the Share Conversion. The listing will be subject to the approval of the TSX.

The following table sets forth the price range and trading volume of the Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares as reported by the TSX for the months of January to, and including, December 2011:

_	Variable Voting Shares			Voting Shares		
2011	High	Low	Total Monthly Volume	High	Low	Total Monthly Volume
January	13.10	12.32	979,484	12.94	12.31	348,843
February	13.01	12.05	492,715	13.00	12.05	180,091
March	12.28	11.54	1,827,668	12.23	11.51	1,705,955
April	12.00	11.51	309,124	12.04	11.55	41,512
May	11.87	11.50	1,019,377	11.83	11.44	160,380
June	11.69	11.11	315,680	11.65	11.10	325,663
July	11.89	11.17	366,022	11.82	11.21	198,762
August	11.44	10.98	534,619	11.33	10.76	154,432
September	11.13	10.44	693,515	11.04	10.45	1,512,330
October	11.60	10.07	312,853	10.82	10.04	298,725
November	10.92	10.01	311,795	10.90	10.30	251,194
December	10.91	10.01	614,620	10.75	10.20	72,347

DIVIDEND RECORD

Since its incorporation, ACE has never declared or paid any dividends. For the time being, ACE does not expect to declare any dividends on its Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares or, following the completion of the Share Conversion, on its Common Shares, other than distributions to be made to shareholders as part of the proposed liquidation described above under "The Corporation – Proposed Liquidation".

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of March 9, 2012, the authorized share capital of ACE is composed of an unlimited number of Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares and of 12,500,000 Preferred Shares. As of March 9, 2012, 22,332,648 Variable Voting Shares and 10,142,786 Voting Shares and no Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding.

At the annual and special shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012, shareholders of ACE will be asked to consider a resolution approving an amendment to the articles of ACE pursuant to which (A) a new class of Common Shares, each entitled to one vote per share, will be created, and (B) each outstanding Variable Voting Share and Voting Share of ACE will be converted into one Common Share (collectively referred to herein as the "Share Conversion").

The Share Conversion forms part of the steps being implemented by ACE in order to complete its liquidation in a tax-efficient manner for ACE and its shareholders. At the time of incorporation of ACE in 2004, when ACE controlled Air Canada, the articles of ACE provided for ownership restrictions through a dual-class share structure to ensure that ACE, as the controlling shareholder of Air Canada, remained Canadian under the CTA. ACE no longer holds a significant interest in any holder of a license under the CTA and accordingly, ACE's dual class structure is no longer necessary.

The following summary describes the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that are attached to the Variable Voting Shares, Voting Shares and Preferred Shares, and the rights that will be attached to the Common Shares assuming that the shareholders approve the Share Conversion at the annual and special shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012. This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by, reference to the terms of the articles of ACE.

Variable Voting Shares

Voting

The holders of the Variable Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, all meetings of the shareholders of ACE, except where the holders of a specified class are entitled to vote separately as a class as provided in the CBCA.

The Variable Voting Shares may be held only by persons who are not Canadians (as such term is defined in the CTA) and are entitled to one vote per Variable Voting Share unless (i) the number of Variable Voting Shares outstanding (including any Preferred Shares, on an as converted basis), as a percentage of the total number of votes attaching to Voting Shares outstanding exceeds 25% (or any higher percentage that the Governor in Council may by regulation specify) or (ii) the total number of votes cast by or on behalf of holders of Variable Voting Shares (including any Preferred Shares, on an as converted basis) at any meeting exceeds 25% (or any higher percentage that the Governor in Council may by regulation specify) of the total number of votes that may be cast at such meeting. If either of the above noted thresholds would otherwise be surpassed at any time, the vote attached to each Variable Voting Share will decrease proportionately such that

(i) the Variable Voting Shares as a class (including any Preferred Shares on an as converted basis) do not carry more than 25% (or any higher percentage that the Governor in Council may by regulation specify) of the aggregate votes attached to all issued and outstanding voting shares of ACE and (ii) the total number of votes cast by or on behalf of holders of Variable Voting Shares (including any Preferred Shares on an as converted basis) at any meeting do not exceed 25% (or any higher percentage that the Governor in Council may by regulation specify) of the votes that may be cast at such meeting.

The Government of Canada's Bill C-10, the *Budget Implementation Act 2009*, contains provisions whereby the CTA would be amended to provide the Governor in Council with flexibility to increase the foreign ownership limit from the existing 25% level to a maximum of 49%. These provisions will come into force on a date to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister of Transport.

Dividends

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the shares of ACE of any other class ranking senior to the Variable Voting Shares, the holders of the Variable Voting Shares shall, at the discretion of the directors, be entitled to receive, out of monies, assets or property of ACE properly applicable to the payment of dividends, any dividends declared and payable by ACE on the Variable Voting Shares and the Variable Voting Shares shall rank equally as to dividends on a share for share basis with the Voting Shares and any Preferred Shares participating on an as converted basis. All dividends declared in any fiscal year of ACE shall be declared in equal or equivalent amounts per share on all Variable Voting Shares, Voting Shares and the Preferred Shares participating on an as converted basis at the time outstanding, without preference or distinction.

Subdivision or Consolidation

No subdivision or consolidation of the Variable Voting Shares or the Voting Shares shall occur unless, simultaneously, the shares of the other class are subdivided or consolidated in the same manner, so as to maintain and preserve the relative rights of the holders of the shares of each of the said classes.

Rights upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the shares of ACE ranking prior to the Variable Voting Shares, including any Preferred Shares, upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ACE or other distribution of ACE's assets among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holders of the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive the remaining property of ACE and shall be entitled to share equally, share for share, in all distributions of such assets.

Conversion

Each issued and outstanding Variable Voting Share shall be converted into one Voting Share, automatically and without any further act of ACE or of the holder, if (i) such Variable Voting Share becomes held, beneficially owned and controlled, directly or indirectly, otherwise than by way of security only, by a Canadian; or (ii) the provisions contained in the CTA relating to foreign ownership restrictions are repealed and not replaced with other similar provisions.

In the event that an offer is made to purchase Voting Shares and the offer is one which must, pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of a stock exchange on which the Voting Shares are then listed, be made to all or substantially all the holders of the Voting Shares in a province of Canada to which the requirement applies, each Variable Voting Share shall become convertible at the option of the holder into one Voting Share that shall be subject to the offer at any time while the offer is in effect and until one day after the time prescribed by applicable securities legislation for the offeror to take up and pay for such shares as are to be acquired pursuant to the offer. The conversion right may only be exercised in respect of Variable Voting Shares for the purpose of depositing the resulting Voting Shares in response to the offer and the transfer agent shall deposit the resulting Voting Shares on behalf of the shareholder.

If the Voting Shares resulting from the conversion and deposited pursuant to the offer are withdrawn by the shareholder or are not taken up by the offeror or the offer is abandoned or withdrawn, the Voting Shares resulting from the conversion shall be reconverted automatically and without further act from ACE or the holder, into Variable Voting Shares.

There shall be no right to convert the Variable Voting Shares into Voting Shares or to convert Voting Shares into Variable Voting Shares, except in accordance with the conversion procedure set forth in the ACE Articles of Amalgamation.

Constraints on Ownership of Shares

The Variable Voting Shares may only be held, beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by persons who are not Canadians.

Voting Shares

Voting

The holders of the Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, all meetings of the shareholders of ACE (except where the holders of a specified class are entitled to vote separately as a class as provided in the CBCA) and each Voting Share shall confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of shareholders of ACE.

Dividends

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the shares of ACE of any other class ranking senior to the Voting Shares, the holders of the Voting Shares shall, at the discretion of the directors, be entitled to receive, out of monies, assets or property of ACE properly applicable to the payment of dividends, any dividends declared and payable by ACE on the Voting Shares and the Voting Shares shall rank equally as to dividends on a share for share basis with the Variable Voting Shares and any Preferred Shares participating on an as converted basis and all dividends declared in any fiscal year of ACE shall be declared in equal or equivalent amounts per share on all Voting Shares, Variable Voting Shares and any Preferred Shares on an as converted basis at the time outstanding, without preference or distinction.

Subdivision or Consolidation

No subdivision or consolidation of the Voting Shares or the Variable Voting Shares shall occur unless, simultaneously, the shares of the other class are subdivided or consolidated in the same manner, so as to maintain and preserve the relative rights of the holders of the shares of each of the said classes.

Rights upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up

Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the shares of ACE ranking senior to the Voting Shares, including any Preferred Shares, upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ACE or other distribution of ACE's assets among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holders of the Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive the remaining property of ACE and shall be entitled to share equally, share for share, in all distributions of such assets.

Conversion

Unless the foreign ownership restrictions of the CTA are repealed and not replaced with other similar restrictions, an issued and outstanding Voting Share shall be converted into one Variable Voting Share, automatically and without any further act of ACE or the holder, if such Voting Share becomes held, beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, otherwise than by way of security only, by a person who is not a Canadian.

Constraints on Ownership of Shares

The Voting Shares may only be held, beneficially owned and controlled, directly or indirectly, by Canadians.

Preferred Shares

Voting

The holders of any Preferred Shares shall be entitled to vote on an as converted basis with the Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares and to the extent that they are held by persons who are not Canadians they shall be subject to the same proportionate reduction in voting percentage as if, for voting purposes only, the Preferred Shares had been converted into Variable Voting Shares.

Participation

The holders of any Preferred Shares shall participate on an as converted basis with the Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares with respect to all dividends, distributions, spin off, split-off, subscription rights or other offers or rights made available to holders of Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares and any other similar transactions.

Liquidation Preference

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ACE (with each holder of any Preferred Shares being entitled to treat the occurrence of a merger, amalgamation, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of ACE or other similar transaction involving a change in control of ACE as a liquidation for these purposes), then the holders of any Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, prior to and in preference to the holders of Variable Voting Shares and the Voting Shares, an amount per Preferred Share equal to the Fully Accreted Value of such Preferred Shares, determined as of the date of such event. For the purposes of the terms of the Preferred Shares, "Fully Accreted Value" means, with respect to each Preferred Share issued on September 30, 2004, as of any date, the initial purchase price of such Preferred Shares.

Optional Conversion

Any Preferred Shares shall be convertible at the option of the holders thereof at any time into Variable Voting Shares, if held by a non-Canadian, or into Voting Shares, if held by a Canadian, at a conversion rate equal to the Fully Accreted Value per Preferred Share (as of the conversion date) divided by the Conversion Price, as defined in the articles of ACE. The Conversion Price of the Preferred Shares is subject to (i) adjustment as described in "Mandatory Redemption/Conversion" below and (ii) customary public company anti-dilution protection for stock splits, stock dividends, subdivisions, combinations and similar transactions. There shall be no special adjustment for below market or below Conversion Price issuances.

Mandatory Redemption/Conversion

The holders of any Preferred Shares shall be required to convert the Preferred Shares into Variable Voting Shares (if the Preferred Shares are not owned and controlled by a Canadian) or Voting Shares (if the Preferred Shares are owned and controlled by a Canadian), within 10 days after the seventh anniversary of the date of issuance of the Preferred Shares (the "Initial Mandatory Conversion Date") provided, however, that if the closing price of Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, does not exceed the Fully Accreted Value of a Preferred Share on at least 30 of the 100 trading days immediately prior to the Initial Mandatory Conversion Date then the holders thereof shall not be required to convert their Preferred Shares into Variable Voting Shares, as the case may be, and on the Initial Mandatory Conversion Date then applicable Conversion Price shall automatically be reduced by 3.75%.

In the event the Preferred Shares have not been converted on or prior to the Initial Mandatory Conversion Date, on each six month anniversary of the Initial Mandatory Conversion Date (each a "Subsequent Mandatory Conversion Date") until and including the 10 year anniversary of the date of issuance of the Preferred Shares (the "Final Maturity Date"), the Preferred Shares shall be subject to mandatory conversion within 10 days of any Subsequent Mandatory Conversion Date if, and only if, the closing price of Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, exceeds the Fully Accreted Value of a Preferred Share on at least 30 of the 100 trading days immediately prior to such Subsequent Mandatory Conversion Date and, if such threshold is not met, the then applicable Conversion Date. If the foregoing test is not met with respect to the Subsequent Mandatory Conversion Date that is the Final Maturity Date, the holders of Preferred Shares shall have the right to require ACE to redeem each of the Preferred Shares in cash on the Final Maturity Date at a per share redemption price equal to the Fully Accreted Value (as at the Final Maturity Date).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Preferred Shares shall not be subject to mandatory conversion as described above unless the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares are then listed and posted on the TSX, and a registration statement, prospectus or similar offering document permitting the distribution and sale of such Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares throughout Canada and/or the United States of America is then effective covering all of the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares and Voting Shares are convertible at the time of such mandatory conversion.

Mandatory Conversion

If at any time during (i) the period commencing on the date of issuance of the Preferred Shares and ending on and including the first anniversary thereof the closing price of the Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, for each of 30 consecutive trading days exceeds 200% of the then applicable Conversion Price or (ii) any period after the first anniversary of the date of issuance of the Preferred Shares the closing price of the Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares as the case may be, for each of 30 consecutive trading days exceeds 175% of the then applicable Conversion Price, and, in each case, if the Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares are then listed and posted on the TSX and a registration statement,

prospectus or other similar offering document permitting the distribution and sale of such Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares throughout Canada and/or the United States of America is then effective covering all of the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares into which the Preferred Shares are convertible, then ACE may require the holders of Preferred Shares to convert the Preferred Shares into Variable Voting Shares, if the Preferred Shares are not owned by a Canadian, or Voting Shares, if the Preferred Shares are owned by a Canadian.

Organic Change

With respect to any recapitalization, reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, amalgamation, arrangement, merger, sale of all or substantially all of ACE's assets to another person or other transaction which is effected in such a way that holders of Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares are entitled to receive (either directly or upon subsequent liquidation) stock, securities or assets with respect to or in exchange for Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be (each an "Organic Change") which includes a sale of all or substantially all of ACE's assets or where ACE is not the surviving entity, the holders of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled to cause ACE to either (i) require that the surviving entity or its publicly traded parent issue to the holders of Preferred Shares in exchange for such shares, a security of the surviving or publicly traded parent entity evidenced by a written instrument substantially similar in form and substance to the Preferred Shares and having a rank senior to all capital stock of such issuing entity or (ii) make appropriate adjustments contemporaneously to the rights attached to the Preferred Shares so as to preserve in all respects the benefits conferred on the holders of the Preferred Shares by the terms of the Preferred Shares.

With respect to any reorganization, amalgamation, arrangement, merger or other similar transaction that does not constitute an Organic Change, appropriate adjustments shall contemporaneously be made to the rights (including, without limitation, the conversion right) attached to the Preferred Shares so as to preserve in all respects the benefits conferred on the holders of the Preferred Shares by the terms of the Preferred Shares.

Pre-emptive Rights

If ACE proposes to issue or sell any Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares or other equity securities, rights, options, warrants or other convertible securities which represent rights to purchase Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, each holder of Preferred Shares shall be entitled to purchase a number of such Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, each holder of Preferred Shares shall be entitled to purchase a number of such Variable Voting Shares or Voting Shares, as the case may be, or other equity securities, rights, options, warrants or other convertible securities sufficient to allow such holder to maintain its proportionate equity ownership in ACE, on a fully diluted basis at the level of such interest immediately prior to such issuance or sale, subject to exceptions for issuances under management and employee stock incentive plans approved by the board of directors of ACE.

Share Conversion and New Common Shares

The terms of the Common Shares pertaining to dividend entitlements, right to vote and entitlement upon liquidation or dissolution will be the same as the rights currently attaching to the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares of ACE. The Common Shares will carry one vote per share and will not be subject to any ownership restriction.

The holders of the Common Shares will be entitled to receive notice of, and to attend and vote at, all meetings of the shareholders of ACE and each Common Share will confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of shareholders of ACE.

With respect to dividends, the holders of the Common Shares will, if declared at the discretion of the directors, be entitled to receive, out of monies, assets or property of ACE properly applicable to the payment of dividends, any dividends declared and payable by ACE on the Common Shares.

Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ACE or other distribution of ACE's assets among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holders of the Common Shares will be entitled to receive the remaining property of ACE and will be entitled to share equally, share for share, in all distributions of such assets.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Directors

The name, municipality of residence and principal occupation of each of the directors are, as of the date hereof, as set forth below. Such individuals have served as directors of ACE since the dates set forth opposite their respective names.

Name and Municipality of Residence	Principal Occupation	Director Since
Gregory A. Boland ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ Toronto, Ontario	President and Chief Executive Officer West Face Capital ⁽³⁾	June 26, 2009
Pierre Marc Johnson ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾ Montreal, Québec	Counsel Heenan Blaikie LLP ⁽⁵⁾	September 30, 2004
David J. Kassie ⁽²⁾⁽⁶⁾ Toronto, Ontario	Group Chairman Canaccord Financial and Canaccord Genuity ⁽⁷⁾	June 26, 2009
Robert F. MacLellan ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ Toronto, Ontario	Chairman Northleaf Capital Partners ⁽⁸⁾	June 26, 2009
Robert A. Milton London, England	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, ACE	June 29, 2004
David I. Richardson ⁽¹⁾⁽⁶⁾ Grafton, Ontario	Corporate Director	September 30, 2004
Marvin Yontef ⁽⁴⁾ Toronto, Ontario	Senior Partner Stikeman Elliott LLP ⁽⁹⁾	June 29, 2004

(1) Member of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee.

(2) Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee.

(3) West Face Capital is a private investment firm.

(4) Member of the Governance and Corporate Matters Committee.

(5) Heenan Blaikie LLP is a law firm.

(6) Member of the Nominating Committee.

(7) Canaccord Financial and Canaccord Genuity are investment dealers.

(8) Northleaf Capital Partners is a private equity fund manager and advisor.

(9) Stikeman Elliott LLP is a law firm.

Unless otherwise indicated below, each of the directors has held the occupation listed above for more than five years. Mr. Boland was Portfolio Manager, Enterprise Capital Management from 1998 to 2007. Mr. Kassie was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Genuity Capital Markets from 2004 to 2010. Mr. MacLellan was Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, TD Bank Financial Group from 2003 to 2009.

The term of office of all of the above directors will expire at the next annual meeting of shareholders of ACE or until their successors are appointed or elected. To the extent that the liquidation of the Corporation described under "The Corporation – Proposed Liquidation" is approved by the shareholders, the Corporation expects that the directors of the Corporation will cease to hold office and the liquidator will be appointed shortly following the initial distribution to shareholders referred to above under "The Corporation – Proposed Liquidation - Distributions".

Officers

The name, municipality of residence and position held with ACE of each of the officers are as set forth below:

Name and Municipality of Residence	Position Held
Robert A. Milton London, England	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Brian Dunne Dublin, Ireland	President and Chief Financial Officer
Sydney John Isaacs Westmount, Québec	Senior Vice-President, Corporate Development and Chief Legal Officer
Jack McLean La Salle, Manitoba	Controller
Carolyn M. Hadrovic Beaconsfield, Québec	Corporate Secretary

Each of the officers has held a position with ACE similar to that listed above for more than five years.

As at March 9, 2012, the directors and officers mentioned above as a group owned, or had control or direction over, directly or indirectly, 42,930 Voting Shares representing approximately 0.13% of the outstanding Voting Shares and Variable Voting Shares. Mr. Gregory A. Boland, a director of ACE, is an officer, director and shareholder of West Face Capital Inc., which exercises control or direction over 3,800,500 Variable Voting Shares and 894,048 Voting Shares.

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies

To the knowledge of ACE, no director or executive officer of ACE is, or has been in the last ten years, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that (A) while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order, or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemptions under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, or (B) was the subject of an order of the type referred to in (A) above that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of that company and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in a capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of that company.

Other than as set forth below, to the knowledge of ACE, no director or executive officer of ACE, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of ACE to affect materially the control of ACE, is, or has been within the last ten years, a director or executive officer of any company that, while that person was acting as director or executive officer of that company, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was

subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.

Robert A. Milton was President and Chief Executive Officer and a director of Air Canada and Pierre Marc Johnson was a director of Air Canada when it filed for protection under the CCAA on April 1, 2003.

Penalties or Sanctions

To the knowledge of ACE, no director or executive officer of ACE, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of ACE to affect materially the control of ACE: (i) has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority or (ii) has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

Certain Bankruptcy or Insolvency Events

To the knowledge of ACE, in the last ten years, no director or executive officer of ACE, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of ACE to affect materially the control of ACE, has become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE

Audit Committee Charter

The charter of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee ("Audit Committee") is attached as Appendix A to this Annual Information Form.

Composition of Audit Committee

As of the date hereof, the Audit Committee of ACE consists of David I. Richardson (Chair), Gregory A. Boland and Robert F. MacLellan. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent and financially literate as defined under Multilateral Instrument 52-110 – *Audit Committees*.

Relevant Education and Experience of Audit Committee Members

In addition to each member's general business experience, the education and experience of each Audit Committee member that is relevant to the performance of his or her responsibilities as an Audit Committee member is as follows:

(i) David I. Richardson is a corporate director. Mr. Richardson is a director and the Chairman of the board of directors of Air Canada and the Chairman of the board of directors of Nortel Networks Corporation and Nortel Networks Limited. Mr. Richardson is the former Chairman of Ernst & Young Inc. (Canada) and a former Executive Partner of Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Richardson joined its predecessor Clarkson, Gordon & Co. in 1963 and was appointed President of The Clarkson Company Limited in 1982. Mr. Richardson was also a member of the Management and Executive Committees of Ernst & Young LLP, national managing partner of the firm's Corporate Finance practice and the senior partner in the Corporate

Recovery and Restructuring practice until his retirement from the partnership in 2002. Mr. Richardson is a Vice Chair of the Board of Governors of Upper Canada College. Mr. Richardson holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Toronto and is a member and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario.

(ii) Gregory A. Boland is the President and Chief Executive Officer of West Face Capital, a Toronto based money manager. Prior to founding West Face Capital in 2007, Mr. Boland managed portfolios for Enterprise Capital Management in Toronto since 1998. Mr. Boland focuses on value and distressed investing and has been actively involved in the restructurings of a number of portfolio companies. Prior to joining Enterprise Capital, Mr. Boland was a Vice President and Partner in proprietary investments at RBC Dominion Securities. He is a Leslie Wong Fellow with the UBC Portfolio Management Foundation. Mr. Boland is a director of Maple Leaf Foods Inc., SilverBirch Energy Corporation and Connacher Oil & Gas Limited. Mr. Boland holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia.

(iii) Robert F. MacLellan is the Chairman of Northleaf Capital Partners. Mr. MacLellan was previously Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer of TD Bank Financial Group from 2003 to 2009. Prior to joining TD Bank in 1995, Mr. MacLellan was Managing Director of Lancaster Financial Holdings and prior to 1988 was Vice President and Director of McLeod Young Weir (Scotia McLeod). Mr. MacLellan is a director of Right to Play (Projects Committee) and T. Rowe Price Group Inc. (Member, Compensation and Audit Committees), a member of the United Way of Greater Toronto Investment Committee and the Toronto Community Foundation Investment Committee and serves on the Advisory Committee to Birch Hill Equity Partners. Mr. MacLellan holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Carleton University and a Masters of Business Administration from Harvard University, and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee reviews and approves the nature of all non-audit services, as permitted by securities legislation and regulations, to be provided by ACE's external auditor prior to the commencement of such work. In this regard, the Audit Committee will prepare a report for presentation to the shareholders of ACE quarterly or annually, as required, regarding the Audit Committee's approval of such non-audit services in the period.

The Audit Committee will also require and review a report from the external auditor of all relationships between the external auditor and its related entities and ACE and its related entities, including all work performed and fees paid for such work of a non-audit nature, that in the external auditor's professional judgment may reasonably be perceived to bear on its objectivity and independence and confirming that in the external auditor's professional judgment it is independent of ACE and discuss this report with the external auditor in order to evaluate the objectivity and independence of the external auditor. The Audit Committee will also review steps taken by the external auditor to address any findings in any of the foregoing reviews.

Auditors' Fees

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has served as ACE's auditing firm since June 29, 2004. Fees paid for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its affiliates are \$251,527 and \$277,938, respectively, as detailed below:

	Year ended December 31, 2011	Year ended December 31, 2010
Audit fees	\$132,460	\$199,038
Audit-related fees	\$49,970	\$16,900
All other fees	\$69,097	\$62,000
	\$251,527	\$277,938

The nature of each category of fees is described below.

<u>Audit fees</u>. Audit fees were paid for professional services rendered for the audit of ACE's annual consolidated financial statements and for services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

<u>Audit-related fees</u>. Audit-related fees were paid for professional services related to the Corporation's transition to International Financial Reporting Standards and other items related to the audit.

Other fees. Other fees were paid for translation services.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as described elsewhere in this Annual Information Form, none of (i) the directors or executive officers of ACE, (ii) any person or company that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the Variable Voting Shares or the Voting Shares, or (iii) any associate or affiliate of the persons referred to in (i) and (ii), has or has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the past three years or during the current financial year that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect ACE.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for the Variable Voting Shares and Voting Shares of ACE is Canadian Stock Transfer Company Inc. as administrative agent for CIBC Mellon Trust Company at its principal transfer offices in Montreal, Toronto, Vancouver, Calgary and Halifax. The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares will remain Canadian Stock Transfer Company Inc. as administrative agent for CIBC Mellon Trust Company, at the same principal transfer offices.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There are no contracts that are material to ACE and that were entered into within the year ended December 31, 2011 or before such year but which are still in effect, and which are required to be filed with

Canadian securities regulatory authorities in accordance with Section 12.2 of National Instrument 51-102 — Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

EXPERTS

ACE's independent auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants, who have issued (i) an independent auditor's report dated February 9, 2012 in respect of ACE's consolidated statement of net assets in liquidation as at December 31, 2011 and the consolidated statements of changes in net assets in liquidation and cash flows for the year then ended, and (ii) an independent auditor's report dated February 9, 2012 in respect of ACE's consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has advised that they are independent with respect to ACE within the meaning of the Code of Ethics of the Ordre des comptables agréés du Québec.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information, including information relating to ACE's proposed liquidation and dissolution, the Share Conversion, directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the ACE's securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is contained in ACE's management proxy circular for its annual and special meeting of shareholders to be held on April 25, 2012. Additional financial information is provided in ACE's financial statements and management's discussion and analysis for the year ended December 31, 2011. The above information and additional information relating to ACE are available on SEDAR at *www.sedar.com*.

The following documents can be obtained by sending your request to the Corporate Secretary of ACE, at 5100 de Maisonneuve Boulevard West, Montreal, Québec, H4A 3T2:

- (i) this Annual Information Form;
- the 2011 Management's Discussion & Analysis / 2011 audited Consolidated Annual Financial Statements and Notes of ACE and any interim financial statements filed after the audited annual consolidated financial statements for ACE's most recently completed financial year;
- (iii) ACE's management proxy circular for the annual and special shareholder meeting to be held on April 25, 2012; and
- (iv) any other documents that are incorporated by reference into a preliminary short form prospectus or a short form prospectus pursuant to which securities of ACE are in the course of a distribution.

Except when securities of ACE are in the course of distribution pursuant to a short form prospectus or a preliminary short form prospectus, ACE may require the payment of a reasonable charge from persons, other than security holders of ACE, requesting copies of these documents.

APPENDIX A - CHARTER OF THE AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ACE AVIATION HOLDINGS INC.

1. Structure, Procedure, Qualifications

The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee (the "Audit Committee") of ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. (the "Corporation") shall be composed of not less than three directors, all of whom shall meet the independence, experience and other membership requirements under applicable laws, rules and regulations as determined by the Board of Directors (the "Board"). The members of the Audit Committee shall have no relationships with management, the Corporation and its related entities that in the opinion of the Board may interfere with their independence from management and from the Corporation. In addition, an Audit Committee member shall not receive, other than for service on the Board or the Audit Committee or other committees of the Board, any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the Corporation or any of its related parties or subsidiaries. The members of the Audit Committee shall possess the mix of characteristics, experiences and skills to provide an appropriate balance for the performance of the duties of the Audit Committee and in particular each member of the Audit Committee shall be "financially literate" and at least one member shall be a "financial expert" as defined by relevant securities legislation or regulations.

A quorum of the Audit Committee shall be a majority of the members, and a majority of the members present shall be required to pass a resolution of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall be responsible to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The Chairman and the members of the Audit Committee shall be appointed annually by the Board.

2. Objectives

- (a) The objectives of the Audit Committee are as follows:
 - (i) To assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibility to monitor the component parts of the Corporation's financial reporting and audit process.
 - (ii) To maintain and enhance the quality, credibility and objectivity of the Corporation's financial reporting and to satisfy itself and oversee management's responsibility as to the adequacy of the supporting systems of internal financial and accounting controls.
 - (iii) To assist the Board of Directors in its oversight of the independence, qualifications and appointment of the external auditor.
 - (iv) To monitor the performance of the internal financial and accounting controls and of the internal and external auditors.
 - (v) To provide independent communication between the Board and the internal auditor and the external auditor.
 - (vi) To facilitate in-depth and candid discussions between the Audit Committee and management and the external auditor regarding significant issues involving judgment and impacting quality of controls and reporting.

3. Duties

To achieve its objectives, the Audit Committee shall:

- (a) Monitor and review the quality and integrity of the Corporation's accounting and financial reporting process through discussions with management, the external auditor and the internal auditor. This will include a review of the annual and quarterly financial statements and Management's Discussion and Analyses ("MD&As") to be filed with regulatory authorities and provided to shareholders, and financial statements and other financial disclosure included in prospectuses, earnings press releases and other similar documents. The Audit Committee shall also review the Corporation's annual information form and other similar documents. These reviews will include:
 - (i) Discussions with management and the external auditor and a consideration of the report by the external auditor to the Audit Committee of matters related to the conduct of an audit;
 - (ii) discussions with the external auditor respecting the auditor's judgment regarding both the acceptability and quality of the financial statements including the critical accounting policies and practices used by management in their preparation, alternative treatments and disclosures of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles that have been considered by management and their ramifications, the selection of changes in significant accounting policies, the method used to account for significant unusual transactions, the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas, the degree of aggressiveness or conservatism, as the case may be, of the accounting policies adopted by the Corporation, the process used by management in formulating particularly significant accounting estimates and the basis for the external auditor's conclusions regarding the reasonableness of those estimates;
 - (iii) a review of significant adjustments arising from an audit;
 - (iv) a review of disagreements with management over the application of accounting policies as well as any disclosure in the financial statements. The Audit Committee is responsible for the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial reporting;
 - (v) a review of all material off-balance sheet transactions and other relationships with nonconsolidated entities that may have a material current or future effect on the financial condition of the Corporation including their disclosure or lack thereof in the applicable quarterly or annual financial statements;
 - (vi) a review of the external auditor's suggestions for improvements to the Corporation's operations and internal controls;
 - (vii) a review of the nature and size of unadjusted errors of a non-trivial amount;
 - (viii) a review to ascertain that various covenants are complied with; and
 - (ix) the selection of, and changes in, accounting policies and consideration of the appropriateness of such selections and changes.
- (b) Determine, based on its review and discussion, whether to recommend the approval by the Board of such financial statements and the financial disclosure in any such annual information forms, earnings press releases, prospectuses and other similar documents.

- (c) Review with management, the internal auditor and the external auditor and, if considered appropriate, approve the release of the Corporation's quarterly financial statements and related MD&A.
- (d) Review with management, the external auditor and legal counsel, the Corporation's procedures to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and any significant litigation, claim or other contingency, including tax assessments, that would have a material effect upon the financial position or operating results of the Corporation and the disclosure or impact on the results of these matters in the quarterly and annual financial statements. The Audit Committee should be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Corporation's public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Corporation's financial statements, and must periodically assess the adequacy of those procedures.
- (e) Meet with the Corporation's external auditor to review and approve their audit plan with particular emphasis on risk factors which could lead to a material misstatement of the financial statements, the scope and timing of the audit, the assumptions and decisions that have been made in developing the plan and co-ordination of work between the external auditor and the internal audit department. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditor engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Corporation.
- (f) Review and approve estimated audit and audit-related fees and expenses for the current year. Preapprove any significant additional audit and audit-related fees over the estimated amount. Review and approve audit and audit-related fees and expenses for the prior year. The authority for the determination and payment of fees to the external auditor rests solely and exclusively with the Audit Committee. The Corporation shall ensure that funding is available to the Audit Committee for payment of compensation to the external auditor.
- (g) Review
 - (i) and approve, or delegate to a member of the Audit Committee the responsibility to review and approve, the nature of all non-audit services, as permitted by securities legislation and regulations, to be provided by the Corporations' external auditor prior to the commencement of such work. In this regard the Audit Committee will prepare a report for presentation to the shareholders of the Corporation quarterly or annually, as required, regarding the Audit Committee's approval of such non-audit services in the period. The pre-approval of non-audit services by a member of the Audit Committee to whom such authority is delegated must be presented to the Audit Committee at its first scheduled meeting following such pre-approval;
 - (ii) and implement from time to time a process in connection with non-audit services performed by the external auditor.
- (h) Review a report from the external auditor of all relationships between the external auditor and its related entities and the Corporation and its related entities, including all work performed and fees paid for such work of a non-audit nature, that in the external auditor's professional judgment may reasonably be perceived to bear on its objectivity and independence and confirming, or otherwise, that in the external auditor's professional judgment it is independent of the Corporation and discuss this report with the external auditor in order to evaluate the objectivity and independence of the external auditor. The Audit Committee should specifically require the external auditor to confirm that it is a registered public accounting firm as prescribed by various applicable securities regulations. As well, at least once a year the Audit Committee will carry out a review of the members, whether there has been any enforcement actions, issues related to the firm and law suits, if any. A formal written report will be obtained from the external auditor outlining: the auditing firm's internal quality control procedures; any material issues raised within the preceding five

years by the auditing firm's internal quality control review, peer reviews or any other inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authority relating to any audit conducted by the firm. The Committee will also review steps taken by the auditing firm to address any findings in any of the forgoing reviews.

- (i) Receive reports on any consultations between management and other public accountants respecting accounting principles to be applied in preparing the quarterly or annual financial statements, and on any incidents involving fraud or illegal acts of which management, the internal audit department or the external auditor become aware. In this regard, review the relevant control procedures with management to ensure that such matters are adequately guarded against.
- (j) At least once each year:
 - (i) Meet privately with management to assess the performance of the external auditor.
 - (ii) Meet privately with the external auditor, amongst other things, to understand any restrictions placed on them or other difficulties encountered in the course of the audit, including instructions on the scope of their work and access to requested information and the level of co-operation received from management during the performance of their work and their evaluation of the Corporation's financial, accounting and audit personnel and systems.
- (k) Evaluate the performance of the external auditor, and if so determined, recommend that the Board either take steps to replace the external auditor or provide for the reappointment of the external auditor by the shareholders.
- (1) Regarding the services provided by the internal audit department, the Audit Committee will:
 - meet privately with internal audit, amongst other things, to understand any restrictions placed on them or other difficulties encountered in the course of their audits, including instructions on the scope of their work and access to requested information and the level of co-operation received from management during the performance of their work;
 - (ii) periodically review and approve the mandate, reporting relationships and resources of the internal audit group;
 - (iii) review the objectivity, qualifications, adequacy and experience of the internal audit staff and approve the appointment, dismissal or replacement of the head of the internal audit department;
 - (iv) review and approve annually the planned scope for the internal audit program, its objectives, and the resources required to attain these objectives;
 - (v) periodically throughout each year review the reports of the internal audit department which describe the activities of the internal audit department for the preceding period; and
 - (vi) review the working relationship between the internal audit department and the external auditor, and between the internal audit department and management.
- (m) Obtain from both the internal audit department and the Corporation's external auditor the major audit findings and internal control recommendations reported during the period under review, the response of management to those recommendations, and review the follow-up performed by management and the internal audit department in order to monitor whether management has implemented an effective system of internal accounting control.

- (n) Review significant emerging accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and regulatory pronouncements, and assess their impact on the Corporation's financial statements.
- (o) Establish policies and procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation from employees, shareholders and other stakeholders regarding accounting issues and financial reporting, internal accounting controls and internal or external auditing matters. The Audit Committee should be satisfied that sufficient controls are in place to ensure that all such complaints can be received anonymously and with an appropriate degree of confidentiality and that potential employee informants are aware of the process that is in place. The Audit Committee should also be satisfied that processes are in place to ensure that all such complaints, regardless of significance, are presented to the Audit Committee.
- (p) Review policies for approval of senior management expenses.
- (q) Review the process relative to the periodic certifications by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation in respect of financial disclosures, the existence of any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the Corporation's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and any significant changes in internal controls or changes to the environment in which the internal controls operate, including corrections of material deficiencies and weaknesses.
- (r) Review with management the Corporation's computer systems, including procedures to keep the systems secure and contingency plans developed to deal with possible computer failures.
- (s) Review and approve all related party transactions as such term is defined from time to time in Policy Statement Q-27 of the Autorité des marchés financiers and Rule 61-501 issued by the Ontario Securities Commission, as may be amended from time to time.
- (t) Review risk management systems and controls, especially in relation to derivatives, foreign currency exposure, hedging and insurance.
- (u) Whenever it may be appropriate to do so, retain and receive advice from experts, including independent legal counsel and independent public accountants, and conduct or authorize the conduct of investigations into any matters within the scope of the responsibility of the Audit Committee as the Audit Committee may consider appropriate. The Corporation shall ensure that funding is available to the Audit Committee in respect of the aforementioned activities.
- (v) Report regularly to the Board in writing on the activities, findings and conclusions of the Audit Committee.
- (w) Review this Charter on an annual basis and recommend to the Board any changes to it that the Audit Committee considers advisable.
- (x) Complete a self-assessment annually to determine how effectively the Audit Committee is meeting its responsibilities.
- (y) Perform such other functions as may be delegated from time to time by the Board.
- (z) Review the process for the rotation of the lead audit partner, the concurring partner and any other audit engagement team partner.
- (aa) Review and approve the Corporation's hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditors of the Corporation.

OTHER

(a) **Public Disclosure**

The Audit Committee shall:

- (i) Review and approve the Corporation's Public Disclosure Policy and any changes related thereto and ensure consistency with current developments and best practices;
- (ii) Where practicable, management will review with the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the Audit Committee draft news releases to be disseminated to the public related to earnings warnings or financial results forecasting by the Corporation which are expected by management to be material in relation to the market price of any of the Corporation's securities.

(b) Risk Identification and Management

The Audit Committee shall make all reasonable efforts to identify and address material financial and other risks to the business and affairs of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and make recommendations in that regard to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The Audit Committee shall review and discuss with management, the internal audit department and the external auditor all major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor/control those exposures. The Audit Committee shall be entitled, from time to time, to retain experts and consultants to assist the Audit Committee with the discharge of such mandate. The Audit Committee shall have the discretion in the discharge of these duties to address risks to the Corporation's and its subsidiaries' revenues and costs, as well as potentially corrupt or other practices that may lead to loss or depreciation of business reputation.

(c) Contingent Liabilities

The Audit Committee shall establish processes and procedures to identify and monitor contingent liabilities of the Corporation and its subsidiaries. In the discharge of these duties, the Audit Committee shall have the discretion to retain experts and consultants and to review, without limitation, workplace safety, environmental issues and any other matters, whether of a financial nature or otherwise, that can give rise to a contingent liability. The Audit Committee shall make recommendations, from time to time, to the Board of Directors of the Corporation on these matters.

(d) Corporate Authorizations Policies

The Audit Committee shall:

- (i) Periodically review and approve policies relative to the financial control, conduct, regulation and administration of subsidiary companies;
- (ii) Periodically review any administrative resolutions adopted from time to time pursuant to the Corporation's By-laws pertaining to the establishment of procedures relative to commitment and transaction authorizations, the determination of the officers or other persons by whom any instrument in writing or document is to be executed and the manner of execution thereof;
- (iii) Review, monitor and approve the Corporate Donations Policy and any changes thereto and the annual Corporate Donations Budget; and
- (iv) Review, monitor and approve any other financial expenditure policies that would affect the Corporation's and its subsidiaries' financial condition or reputation.

(e) **Performance to Budget**

The Audit Committee shall review actual financial performance compared to budget.

(f) Meetings

- (i) The Audit Committee shall meet at least quarterly at the call of the Chairman of the Audit Committee, any other member of the Audit Committee or the external auditors.
- (ii) An "in-camera" session of the members of the Committee shall be held as part of each meeting of the Committee.

(g) **Responsibilities**

Nothing contained in the above mandate is intended to assign to the Audit Committee the Board of Directors' responsibility to ensure the Corporation's compliance with applicable laws or regulations or to expand applicable standards of liability under statutory or regulatory requirements for the directors or the members of the Audit Committee. Even though the Audit Committee has a specific mandate and its members have financial experience and expertise, it is not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits, or to determine that the Corporation's financial statements are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Such matters are the responsibility of management, the internal auditor and the external auditor.

Members of the Audit Committee are entitled to rely, absent knowledge to the contrary, on (i) the integrity of the persons and organizations from whom they receive information, (ii) the accuracy and completeness of the information provided, and (iii) representations made by management as to the non-audit services provided to the Corporation by the external auditor.

February 7, 2008